THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Hon. DeAndrea Gist Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

---

C.A. No.: 2017-CP-40-06976  
Appellate Case No. 2019-001231

---

**RECEIVED**  
**Sep 01 2020**  
**SC Court of Appeals**

Jefferson Davis, Jr. ....Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Educational Credit for Exceptional Needs Children Fund, .....Respondent.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Jefferson Davis, Jr.  
403 McCarter Avenue  
Greenville, SC 29615  
843-901-8036 (cell)  
*jeff@apogeetax.com*

*Appellant*

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN RULING THAT THE RESPONDENT ECENC FUND WAS NOT A “PUBLIC BODY” FOR PURPOSES OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT WHERE RESPONDENT ECENC FUND IS AMONG OTHER THINGS **(1) A LEGISLATIVELY CREATED PUBLIC NON-PROFIT, (2) GOVERNED BY A FIVE PERSON LEGISLATIVELY APPOINTED BOARD, AND (3) ADMINISTERED BY LAW BY THE SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE AT PUBLIC EXPENSE?**
2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN RULING **(ON A MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND PRIOR TO DISCOVERY)** THAT NO PUBLIC FUNDS WERE EXPENDED WHEN APPELLANT DAVIS PROVIDED EVIDENCE TO THE EFFECT THAT PUBLIC FUNDS WERE BEING EXPENDED IN THE ADMINISTRATION OF THE RESPONDENT ECENC FUND PROGRAM AND RESPONDENT ECENC FUND PROVIDED NO CONFLICTING EVIDENCE?
3. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN RULING THAT ALTHOUGH **RESPONDENT ECENC FUND HAS NO STATUTORY REPORTING REQUIREMENTS,** THE STATUTORY REPORTING REQUIREMENTS OF ANOTHER ORGANIZATION (THE SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE) EXEMPTED RESPONDENT ECENC FUND (A PUBLIC BODY) FROM FOIA UNDER THE **DOMAINSNEWMEDIA.COM** SUPREME COURT CASE?
4. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN RULING THAT THE SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE REPORTING REQUIREMENTS OF PROVISIO 109.15 (EFFECTIVE 7/1/2016) WERE SUFFICIENTLY “NARROW AND TARGETED” TO COMPLY WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE **DOMAINSNEWMEDIA.COM** SUPREME COURT CASE?
5. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN RULING THAT THE SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE REPORTING REQUIREMENTS OF PROVISIO 109.11 (EFFECTIVE 7/1/2017) WERE SUFFICIENTLY “NARROW AND TARGETED” TO COMPLY WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE **DOMAINSNEWMEDIA.COM** SUPREME COURT CASE?
6. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN USING A NEW FOIA PROVISION PASSED BY ACT 247 OF 2018 (EFFECTIVE MAY 18, 2018) TO INTERPRET LEGISLATIVE INTENT OF PROVISIO 109.15 (EFFECTIVE 7/1/2016 – 6/30/2017) AND PROVISIO 109.11 (EFFECTIVE 7/1/2017 – 6/30/2018) WHICH NEITHER CONTAINED SUCH FOIA PROVISION?

7. IF THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY APPLIED ACT 247 OF 2018 (EFFECTIVE MAY 18, 2018), DO THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 3790(B)(4) EXEMPT RESPONDENT ECENC FUND OR THE SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE FROM FOIA, OR IS IT SIMPLY RESTATING (BELT & SUSPENDER) FOIA PROVISIONS FOR CONFIDENTIALITY OF MEDICAL AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order ruling that Respondent (hereinafter the “**ECENC Fund**”), a legislatively created, single purpose, public non-profit, administered by the **South Carolina Department of Revenue** (hereinafter the “**SCDOR**”) at taxpayer expense and governed by a five person legislatively appointed board, was not a “public body” for purposes of the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act, S.C. Code Ann. 30-4-10, *et seq.* (hereinafter “FOIA”). (R. pp. 16-20; Order.)

Beginning on July 1, 2016, the ECENC Fund has served as the sole scholarship provider under the Educational Credit for Exceptional Needs Scholarship Fund program. (R. pp. 310-313; Proviso 109.15 - Effective 7/1/2016 - 6/30/2017.) The ECENC Fund was “organized by the [SCDOR] as a public charity as defined by the Internal Revenue Code under sections 509(a)(1) through 509(a)(4)”. (R. p. 310; Proviso 109.15 (B)(1).) The ECENC Fund has a five person legislatively appointed board (R. p. 311; Proviso 109.15 (B)(3).) and by law is administered by the SCDOR. (R. p. 311; Proviso 109.15 (B)(4).) The ECENC Fund utilizes S.C. government only services and contracts through the **South Carolina Department of Administration** and furthermore utilizes, at taxpayer expense, SCDOR employees and equipment (telephone lines) to provide administrative services including donor tax credit fundraising. (R. pp. 66-69; Appellant’s Affidavit – with supporting attachments.) Furthermore, by law, the Executive Director of the ECENC Fund is hired by the Director of the SCDOR. (R. p. 310; Proviso 109.15 (B)(3).)

By all indications imaginable, by all statutory requirements of FOIA, and by all previous South Carolina case law, the ECENC Fund is clearly a “public body” subject to public disclosure

under FOIA and Appellant was completely justified in sending his FOIA requests to the ECENC Fund and expecting them to be answered.

Appellant sent his first FOIA request to the ECENC Fund on December 14, 2016 simply asking for notification of board meetings. (R. pp. 66-69; Appellant's Affidavit # 14, Attachment E, pp. 81-83.) Appellant received no response. (R. pp. 66-69; Appellant's Affidavit #15, #16, #17 & #18.)

Appellant sent a second FOIA request to the ECENC Fund on July 10, 2017 seeking certain documents related solely to the management of the organization. (R. pp. 66-69; Appellant's Affidavit #6, Attachment A, pp. 70-71.) The ECENC Fund did not respond to this second request within the required 10 business days. S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-30(c) (effective 5/19/2017). (R. pp. 66-69; Appellant's Affidavit #7, #8, #9, #10 & #11, Attachment B, pp. 72-74.) As a result of the foregoing and other failures, both of Appellant's "request must be considered approved as to nonexempt records or information." *Id.* The ECENC Fund later and untimely denied Appellants second July 10, 2017 FOIA request stating that it was not subject to FOIA. (R. pp. 66-69; Appellant's Affidavit #7, #8, #9, #10 & #11, Attachment B, pp. 72-74.)

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

"Declaratory judgments are neither legal nor equitable." *Bundy v. Shirley*, 412 S.C. 292, 301, 772 S.E.2d 163, 168 (2015). "The standard of review for a declaratory judgment action is therefore determined by the nature of the underlying issue." *Wiedemann v. Town of Hilton Head Island*, 344 S.C. 233, 236, 542 S.E.2d 752, 753 (Ct. App. 2001). A declaratory judgment under FOIA is an action at law. *S.C. Tax Comm'n v. Gaston Copper Recycling Corp.*, 316 S.C. 163, 447 S.E.2d 843 (1994); *Burton v. York Cty. Sheriffs Dept.*, 358 S.C. 339, 594 S.E.2d 888 (Ct. App. 2004). "Determining the proper interpretation of a statute is a question of law, and this Court reviews questions of law de novo." *Town of Summerville v. City of N. Charleston*, 378 S.C. 107, 110, 662 S.E.2d 40, 41 (2008).

"The Court's primary function in interpreting a statute is to ascertain the intent of the legislature." *Roche v. Young Bros., Inc. of Florence*, 332 S.C. 75, 81, 504 S.E.2d 311, 314 (1998). "A statute as a whole must receive a practical, reasonable, and fair interpretation consonant with the purpose, design, and policy of the lawmakers." *Id.* "Generally, statutes are to be construed with reference to the whole system of law of which they form a part." *Id.* "In construing a statute, this Court is constrained to avoid an absurd result." *Id.*

Summary judgment is appropriate where there is no genuine issue of material fact and it is clear the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. Rule 56(c), SCRPC. In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all inferences which can be reasonably drawn from the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Koester v. Carolina Rental Ctr.*, 313 S.C. 490, 493, 443 S.E.2d 392, 394 (1994). "When the circuit court grants summary judgment on a question of law, [the appellate

court] review[s] the ruling de nova." Stoneledge at Lake Keowee Owners' Ass'n, Inc. v. Builders FirstSource-Southeast Grp., 413 S.C. 630, 634-35, 776 S.E.2d 434, 437 (Ct. App. 2015).

In the case at hand, the Court reviews the trial court's findings of fact and legal conclusions, *de nova*.

## **FACTS**

### **FOIA VIOLATION (12/14/2016) – Meeting Notifications**

Subject to FOIA, S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-10, et seq. (pre 5/19/2017)

1. On or about **December 14, 2016**, Appellant served a FOIA request on the Respondent via U.S. Mail, which was received shortly thereafter. (R. p. 28; Complaint #12, Exhibit C, pp. 36-38.) ADMITTED. (R. p. 42; Respondent Answer #12.)
2. Also, on or about **December 14, 2016**, Appellant served the same FOIA request on the Respondent via Email, which was received shortly thereafter. (R. p. 29; Complaint #13, Exhibit D, pp. 39-40.) ADMITTED. (R. p. 42; Respondent Answer #13.)
3. The Respondent failed to respond to the December 14, 2016 request. (R. pp. 66-69; Appellant's Affidavit #15, #16, #17 & #18.)
4. FOIA requires "[a]ll public bodies shall notify persons or organizations, local news media, or such other news media as may request notification of the times, dates, places, and agenda of all public meetings, whether scheduled, rescheduled, or called, and the efforts made to comply

with this requirement must be noted in the minutes of the meetings.” S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-80(e).

5. FOIA requires a “public body,” in response to a request, to “notify” the Appellant “of its determination and the reasons therefor” within 15 business days. S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-30(c) (pre 5/19/2017).
6. Respondent’s failure to respond to the Appellant’s December 14, 2016 FOIA request is a violation of § 30-4-30(c) (pre 5/19/2017).
7. As a result of the foregoing failure, Appellant’s “request must be considered approved as to nonexempt records or information.” *Id.*
8. Appellant has received no notification from Respondent of any meetings. (R. pp. 29; Complaint #19.) ADMITTED. (R. p. 42; Respondent Answer #19.)
9. Meetings requiring notice to Appellant have in fact occurred. (R. pp. 66-69; Appellant’s Affidavit #17.)
10. Appellant contends that Respondent is acting in bad faith given it is clear Respondent is a “public body”. (R. pp. 66-69; Appellant’s Affidavit #18.)

**FOIA VIOLATION (7/10/2017) – Documents**

Subject to FOIA, S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-10, et seq. (as amended, effective 5/19/2017)

11. On or about July 10, 2017, Appellant served a FOIA request on the Respondent via U.S. Mail, which was received shortly thereafter. (R. p. 28; Complaint #6, Exhibit A, pp. 31-33.) ADMITTED. (R. p. 41; Respondent Answer #6.)
  
12. Also on or about July 10, 2017, Appellant served the same FOIA request on the Respondent via Email, which was received shortly thereafter. (R. p. 28; Complaint #7, Exhibit B, pp. 34-35.) ADMITTED. (R. p. 41; Respondent Answer #7.)
  
13. FOIA requires a “public body,” in response to a request, to “notify” the Appellant “of its determination and the reasons for it” within 10 business days. S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-30(c) (effective 5/19/2017).
  
14. As a result of the foregoing failures, Appellant’s “request must be considered approved as to nonexempt records or information.” *Id.*
  
15. The Respondent failed to respond to the July 10, 2017 FOIA request within the required 10 business days (or July 25, 2017). (R. pp. 66-69; Appellant’s Affidavit #9, #10 & #11.)
  
16. Respondent has failed to provide Appellant’s request in violation of § 30-4-30(c) (effective 5/19/2017). (R. pp. 66-69; Appellant’s Affidavit #11.)
  
17. Respondent has denied additional FOIA request for documents claiming to not be a “public body”. (R. pp. 66-69; Appellant’s Affidavit #12, Attachment C – August 31, 2017 FOIA request, pp. 75-77; and Appellant’s Affidavit #13, Attachment D – September 12, 2017 FOIA denial, pp. 78-80.)

## Facts Demonstrating ECENC Fund is a “public body”

Appellant claims that Respondent ECENC Fund has in **bad faith** denied being a “public body” in an effort to avoid transparency in its operations. There are certain indisputable facts that make it clear Respondent is a “public body” subject to FOIA. These facts include, but are not limited to, the following:

1. Respondent is a legislatively created entity pursuant to budget Proviso 109.15 of the 2016-17 General Appropriation Act as ratified by the General Assembly on June 2, 2016 (and renewed by Proviso 109.11 of the 2017-18 General Appropriation Act (H.3720)). (R. pp. 310-313; Proviso 109.15 - Effective 7/1/2016 - 6/30/2017; & R. pp. 314-318; Proviso 109.11 – Effective 7/1/2017 – 6/30/2018.)

“(B) (1) There is created the Educational Credit for Exceptional Needs Children Fund that is separate and distinct from the State general fund. The fund shall be organized by the department as a public charity as defined by the Internal Revenue Code under sections 509(a)(1) through 509(a)(4) and consist solely of contributions made to the fund. The fund may not receive an appropriation of public funds. The fund shall receive and hold all contributions intended for it as well as all earnings until disbursed as provided in this chapter. Monies received in the fund shall be used to provide scholarships to exceptional needs children attending eligible schools.” (R. pp. 310-311 & 315.)

2. By law, all of Respondent’s board members are appoint by elected government officials.

“(B) (3) The fund shall be governed by five directors, two appointed by the Chairman of the House Ways and Means Committee, one of which is based upon the recommendation of the South Carolina Association of Christian Schools and one which is based upon the recommendation of the Diocese of Charleston, two appointed by the Chairman of the Senate Finance Committee based upon the recommendations of the South Carolina Independent Schools Association and one appointed by the Governor based upon the recommendation of the Palmetto Association of Independent Schools. ...” (R. pp. 311 & 315.)

3. By law, and in conjunction with Respondent's government appointed board members, the SCDOR Director designates the executive director of Respondent.

“(B) (3) .... The directors of the fund, along with the Director of the Department of Revenue, shall designate an executive director of the fund.” (R. pp. 311& 315.)

4. By law, Respondent's operations and administration is performed by the SCDOR.

“(B) (4) In concert with the fund directors, the Department of Revenue shall administer the fund, including, but not limited to, the keeping of records, the management of accounts, and disbursement of the grants awarded pursuant to this proviso. The department may expend up to two percent of the fund for administration and related costs.” (R. pp. 311 & 315.)

5. Respondent was formed on June 16, 2016, by the then Director of the SCDOR using the SCDOR physical address as its principal office. (R. pp. 66-69; Appellant's Affidavit #19; Attachment F – SCDOR provided FOIA documents, pp. 84-95.)

6. Respondent utilizes SCDOR employees to process taxpayer donations. In fact, the taxpayer donation phone number listed on Respondent's website for “**Stocks, Bonds, and other Marketable Securities**” goes directly to an SCDOR phone number and employee. (803-896-1633 – SCDOR employee Lauranne Mays). (R. pp. 66-69; Appellant's Affidavit, #20, #21 & #22; Attachment G, pp. 96-97.)

7. SCDOR employees, on government time, at public expense, actively solicit taxpayer donations for Respondent. (R. pp. 66-69; Appellant's Affidavit, #23 & #24; Attachment H, pp. 98-100.)

8. SCDOR actively solicits taxpayer donations for Respondent on the homepage of its website as well as SCDOR's Facebook and Twitter pages. (R. pp. 66-69; Appellant's

Affidavit, #25, #26 & #27; Attachment I, pp. 101-103, Attachment J, pp. 104-105, & Attachment K, pp. 106-108.)

9. Respondent utilizes the sc.gov website and a contract administered by the **South Carolina Department of Administration** to process Respondent's online taxpayer donations. This service is unavailable to any organizations outside state government organizations. Specifically, the Respondent's taxpayer donor page states:

“This online service is provided by SC.GOV, a third party, working under a contract administered by the State of South Carolina Department of Administration. The online price of items or services purchased through SC.GOV, the state's official Web portal, includes funds used to develop, maintain, enhance and expand the service offerings of the state's portal.” (R. pp. 66-69; Appellant's affidavit, #28, Attachment L, pp. 109-110.)

10. According to Respondent's own website, Respondent's government appointed governing board does not have access to the names of their donors, likely because all processing of taxpayer donations is done by SCDOR. It is clear that SCDOR would only provide such services to a “public body”. (R. pp. 66-69; Appellant's Affidavit, #29, Attachment M, pp. 111-112.)

11. Respondent is publicly listed as a “**State Board and Commission**”. As required by state law, specifically § 1-5-40, the **South Carolina Secretary of State** has a duty to monitor state boards and commissions. The South Carolina Secretary of State does in fact list Respondent and its government appointed board members as part of the Secretary of States duties. Also as required by law, specifically § 1-1-1310, Respondent or its agent report said legally required information to the South Carolina Secretary of State. (R. pp. 66-69; Appellant's Affidavit, #30, Attachment N, pp. 113-118.)

As the above demonstrates, in conjunction with the following LAW & ANALYSIS, it is clear Respondent is a “public body” subject to the requirements of FOIA.

### **PROCEDURAL HISTORY**

**On July 31, 2017**, after Respondent refused to comply with certain FOIA requests and claimed it was not a “public body” subject to FOIA, Appellant filed his Summons and Complaint in Greenville County. (R. pp. 24-40; Appellant’s Complaint.)

**On August 31, 2017**, Respondent filed a 12(b)(3) Motion to Dismiss based on improper venue<sup>1</sup>.

**On November 6, 2017**, a hearing was held in Greenville on Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss and as a result venue was transferred to Richland County. (R. pp. 1-3; Form 4 Order filed November 7, 2017.)

**On November 20, 2017**, Respondent filed its Answer. (R. pp. 41-45; Respondent’s Answer.)

**On January 24, 2018**, Appellant filed this Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. pp. 46-65.)

**On January 24, 2018**, Appellant also filed a detailed Affidavit setting forth the facts in this case. (R. pp. 66-69; plus supporting Attachments, pp. 70-118.)

---

<sup>1</sup> Respondent also included a 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss which it later withdrew.

**On April 17, 2018**, a hearing on Appellant’s Motion for Summary Judgment was held. Counsel for Respondent, although notified by the Court, failed to show up. (R. pp. 175-183; specifically transcript pages 176-177.)

**On May 15, 2018**, a second hearing on Appellant’s Motion for Summary Judgment was held, the trial court held that Appellant “may ultimately prevail but I do believe that a genuine issue of material fact exists here”. (R. pp. 184-207; transcript; specifically, page 205, lines 21-23.) Form 4 Order filed May 16, 2018. (R. pp. 4-6; Form 4 Order filed May 16, 2018.)

**On June 14, 2018**, Respondent’s counsel filed a 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss with a Memorandum (R. pp. 119-123), even though he had already filed an Answer on November 20, 2017. Respondent also filed a Motion for Protection from Discovery. (R. p. 124.)

**On August 9, 2018**, a hearing was held in whereby Respondent’s 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss was Denied, and Respondent was Ordered to provide responses to all discovery within 5 days. (R. pp. 7-9; Form 4 Order filed August 9, 2018.)

**On August 16, 2018**, Respondent first provided responses to Appellant’s discovery request, basically denying all of Appellant’s requests.

**On August 17, 2018**, Respondent filed a Motion for Summary Judgment & Judgment on the Pleadings. (R. pp. 125 & 131.)

**On August 22, 2018**, Appellant filed a Motion for Contempt and Sanctions. (R. pp. 137-140.)

**On September 10, 2018**, Appellant filed a Motion to Compel Discovery and Sanctions, as well as a Renewed Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. pp. 141-143 & 144-146.)

**On September 29, 2018**, Respondent filed a Revised Memo in Support of Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings. (R. pp. 147-156.)

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