THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001231
Civil Action No. 2017-CP-40-06976

RECEIVED
Sep 09 2020
SC Court of Appeals

Jefferson Davis, Jr. Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Educational Credit for Exceptional Needs Children Fund..... Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT
SOUTH CAROLINA EDUCATIONAL CREDIT FOR EXCEPTIONAL NEEDS CHILDREN FUND

Geoffrey K. Chambers, Esquire
CPerl Group
411 Walnut Street
Number 10646
Green Cove Springs, FL 32043
Phone: 864-508-0899
Geoffrey@CPerlgroup.com

*Attorney for Respondent South Carolina

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

Argument

I. The trial court properly dismissed Appellant's claims against South Carolina Educational Credit for Exceptional Needs Children Fund because Respondent is not a Public Body pursuant to the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act.

Specific reporting requirements enacted by the Legislature render Respondent not a Public Body and Respondent is not engaging in activities that would make it a public body.

"FOIA subjects a 'public body' to record disclosure." *Disabato, v. S.C. Ass'n of Sch. Adm'rs*, 404 S.C. 433, 442, 746 S.E.2d 329, 333 (2013). "Among those entities defined as a public body subject to the statute are 'any organization, corporation, or agency supported in whole or in part by public funds or expending public funds . . .'" *Id.* at 442, 746 S.E.2d at 333 (quoting *S.C. Code Ann.* § 30-4- 20(a)).

FOIA is a general statute. *DomainsNewMedia.com, LLC v. Hilton Head Island-Bluffton Chamber Commerce*, 423 SC 295, 814 S.E.2d 513 (S.C. 2018). Where there is one statute addressing an issue in general terms and another statute dealing with the identical issue in a more specific and definite manner, the more specific statute will be considered an exception to, or a qualifier of, the general statute and given such effect. *Capco of Summerville v. J.H. Gayle Const.*, 628 S.E.2d 38, 368 S.C. 137 (S.C. 2006) (quoting *Wilder v. South Carolina Hwy. Dep't*, 228 S.C. 448, 90 S.E.2d 635 (1955).) See also *DomainsNewMedia.com, LLC v. Hilton Head Island-Bluffton Chamber Commerce*, 423 SC 295 at 299 (a local government must fulfill specific reporting requirements on the Chamber of Commerce's spending of accommodations tax dollars, thus fulfilling a specific reporting requirement and creating an exception to FOIA.) The primary rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the Legislature. *Gilstrap v. South Carolina Budget and Control Board*, --- S.C. ----, 423 S.E.2d 101 (1992). This Court must

avoid construing a statute so as to lead to an absurd result. *State v. Allen*, --- S.C. ----, 431 S.E.2d 563 (1993). *Stone v. State (City of Orangeburg)*, 443 S.E.2d 544, 313 S.C. 533 (S.C. 1994).

South Carolina Code Annotated 1976 §12-6-3790(B)(5) requires an annual report from Respondent ECENCF with the following items:

- (a) the number and total amount of grants issued to eligible schools in each year;
- (b) the identity of the school and the amount of the grant for each grant issued to an eligible school in each year;
- (c) an itemized and detailed explanation of fees or other revenues obtained from or on behalf of an eligible school;
- (d) a copy of a compilation, review, or audit of the fund's financial statements, conducted by a certified public accounting firm; and
- (e) the criteria and eligibility requirements for scholarship awards.

South Carolina Code Annotated 1976 §12-6-3790(E)(3) requires a web posting by ECENCF with the following items:

- (a) A list of eligible schools participating in the scholarship program.
- (b) Test scores for each school participating in the program.

South Carolina Code Annotated 1976 §12-6-3790(E)(6) requires the Education Oversight Committee issue a report to the General Assembly documenting the impact of the Educational Credit for Exceptional Needs Children Program on student achievement.

Similarly, the accommodations tax statute provides three layers of oversight:

“—a local advisory committee, a statewide oversight committee, and an expenditure review committee. First, it requires a local government receiving over \$50,000 in revenue from A-Tax funds to appoint an advisory committee "to make recommendations on the expenditure of revenue generated from the accommodations tax." *South Carolina Code Annotated 1976* § 6-4-25(A).6 Second, the local government must submit certain information to the South Carolina

Accommodations Tax Oversight Committee, to include a "list of how funds from the accommodations tax are spent," which is due "before October first and must include funds received and dispersed during the previous fiscal year." *Id.* § 6-4-25(D). Finally, these reports are provided to the Tourism Expenditure Review Committee (TERC) for review to ensure that the local government complies with the basic requirements for expenditures set forth in the statute. *Id.* § 6-4-35; *Id.* § 6-4-25(D)."

DomainsNewMedia.com, LLC v. Hilton Head Island-Bluffton Chamber Commerce, 814 S.E.2d 513, at 517 (S.C. 2018).

South Carolina Code Annotated 1976 §12-6-3790(B)(1) states that the scholarship fund must consist only of contributions and cannot receive appropriations of public funds.

The scholarship fund amounts on deposit do not constitute public funds and are not the property of the State. The State does not have a claim or interest in the amount on deposit. *South Carolina Code Annotated 1976* §12-6-3790(B)(2). The debts and obligations of the fund do not constitute debts or obligations of the State. *Id.*

The Department of Revenue and the Public Charity (Respondent ECENCF) cannot expend public funds to administer the scholarship program. *South Carolina Code Annotated 1976* §12-6-3790(B)(4).

The Affidavits of Thomas Persons, Sr. that were presented to the trial court provide a summary of the background of Respondent, the legislative history of Respondent and the practices of Respondent. In summary, Respondent is a charity set up by Legislative act in such a way that its operations and corporate format would not make it a Public Body. *See* Affidavit of Thomas Persons, (R. 339-341) The trial court was provided the statutory scheme of Respondent's creation with an explanation of why Respondent is not a Public Body by definition. *See* Respondent's Memo in Support of Judgment on the Pleadings filed September 29, 2018 (R. 151-153). *See also*

Trascript of October 3, 2018 hearing on Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings and Motion for Summary Judgment, R. 248-252)

Appellant argues that the Public Charity (Respondent ECENCF) administering the fund was created by legislative act, its board members were appointed by the legislature, and the Department of Revenue filed paperwork to incorporate the Respondent charity. Thus, the Respondent is a public body subject to FOIA. Respondent cites a litany of FOIA cases that do not apply to the statutory reporting requirements at hand and numerous Attorney General Opinions to support his position.

Appellant also alleges that the Department of Revenue has spent public funds and continues to spend public funds in support of the Respondent Charity. Respondent compares the expenditure of public funds to the holding in *Weston v. Carolina Research & Dev. Found.*, 303 S.C. 398, 401 S.E.2d 161 (1991). The public charity in *Weston* was not governed by a specific reporting statute and such a charity would be subject to FOIA if supported in whole or in part by public funds. Especially so with the massive amount of public funding supplied to the charity in *Weston*. *Id.* However, *Weston* illustrates that there are exceptions to FOIA for a public charity that is part of a program with a specific legislatively determined reporting requirement and supports a finding that specific reporting requirements override the more general FOIA reporting requirements. *DomainsNewMedia.com, LLC v. Hilton Head Island-Bluffton Chamber Commerce*, 814 S.E.2d 513 at 518 and 519 (S.C. 2018).

Appellant further argues the reporting requirements of §12-6-3790 do not come from Respondent, but rather State Agencies. If Respondent is operating the scholarship program, the audit of the scholarship program would necessarily cover the financials of Respondent. Likewise, the information and data on scholarships granted by respondent would also have to be provided by

the Respondent who selected and funded the grants. As illustrated in *DomainsNewMedia.com*, apart from a spending budget and audit submitted by the Chamber of Commerce, the reporting requirements cited by the Supreme Court were the responsibility of the city / county / local government body allowing a private entity to manage Accommodations Tax expenditures. *DomainsNewMedia.com, LLC v. Hilton Head Island-Bluffton Chamber Commerce*, 814 S.E.2d 513, at 517 (S.C. 2018).

Appellant's argument is inconsistent with South Carolina law. Specifically, there are extensive reporting requirements on this program, including a CPA audit of the Respondent and the fund. The choices, actions, and performance of the Respondent are evaluated and reported in both a Department of Revenue Report and an Educational Oversight Committee report. The reporting requirements of Respondent are clearly outlined in the law. Furthermore, the performance of schools receiving scholarship money from Respondent are evaluated by the EOC to determine effectiveness of the program.

These reports are sent to the Legislature and published on government agency websites. These materials have been disclosed to Appellant in past Freedom of Information Act Requests to the Department of Revenue and the Governor's Office.

As in the holding of *DomainsNewMedia.com*, these specific reporting requirements are the way the legislature intended information from this program to be evaluated and tracked. The specific reporting requirements replace the more general reporting requirements under FOIA pursuant to the *DomainsNewMedia.com* holding on specific reporting requirements.

The only significant difference between Respondent's position and the holding in *DomainsNewMedia.com* is Respondent does not have access to public funds and is not spending

public funds pursuant to §12-6-3790. This fact would further distance Respondent from being a Public Body pursuant to FOIA.

Finally, if there is any doubt in the legislature's intent of FOIA applying to Respondent or to the operation of this program, there was a legislative clarification resulting from the legislature's awareness of this litigation. The legislative intent of §12-6-3790(B)(4) is abundantly clear in stating that FOIA does not apply to information used by Respondent in its duties under the Act.

Because of the presence of the above specific statutory reporting requirements, the more general requirements of FOIA do not apply. Allegations of legislative control, a joint venture with the Department of Revenue, expenditures of public funds and provision of supporting resources by the Department of Revenue are not relevant under the Legislature's specific reporting requirements as held in *DomainsNewMedia.com*. Lastly the legislative intent that this program be subject to the statutory reporting requirements and not FOIA was made crystal clear by the legislative clarification in the governing statutes that specifically exempts information from FOIA.

The trial court correctly dismissed Appellant's causes of action.

II. Dismissal of Appellant's claims against South Carolina Educational Credit for Exceptional Needs Children Fund without receipt of discovery is supported because the Appellant is not entitled to discovery where the subject of discovery is the subject of the FOIA action itself.

As the subject of the FOIA request and FOIA suit, information sought through discovery is not discoverable. *Giza v. Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare*, 628 F.2d 748 (1st Cir.1980). *City of Columbia v. American Civil Liberties Union of South Carolina, Inc.*, 475 S.E.2d 747, 323 S.C. 384 (S.C. 1995).

In concert with the public charity directors, the Department of Revenue shall administer the public charity including, but not limited to, the keeping of records, the management of accounts, and disbursement of the grants awarded pursuant to this section. *South Carolina Code Annotated 1976* §12-6-3790(B)(4).

Appellant sought financial information which was the subject matter of his FOIA request leading to this litigation through discovery from Respondent. As such, this information is not discoverable.

The reporting requirements of §12-6-3790 outlined in the previous section make financial information irrelevant to disposition of this case pursuant to *DomainsNewMedia.com*. The Respondent is not a Public Body pursuant to FOIA.

Furthermore, financial information is not relevant for a 501(c)(3) entity that does not expend public funds or have access to public funds. The Department of Revenue can operate the scholarship program pursuant to §12-6-3790(B)(4). The alleged support by the Department of Revenue is within the Department of Revenue's statutory authority to operate the scholarship program. Operation of the scholarship program was clearly contemplated by the Legislature, who also stated that public funds could not be utilized in operation of the scholarship program. And specifically clarified that such operation was not subject to FOIA. The Department of Revenue is

not a party to this case and the Department of Revenue's compliance or non-compliance with the law is not within the control or choice of the Respondent.

There are no allegations made that Respondent itself has engaged in activity that would jeopardize its compliance with the law as the Legislature intended. Respondent does not have access to state resources, is not part of the State, is not property of the State, and cannot receive State appropriations.

III. Dismissal of Appellant’s claims against South Carolina Educational Credit for Exceptional Needs Children Fund is proper because of specific statutory reporting requirements requiring a CPA to audit Respondent and Respondent’s activities, requiring the Department of Revenue to issue an extensive report, and requiring the Education Oversight Committee to report on the efficacy of Respondent’s program.

In the interest of brevity, Respondent defers to its argument in Section 1 that references Appellant’s allegations that reporting requirements do not exempt Respondent pursuant to *DomainsNewMedia.com*. In summary, the Respondent’s reporting requirements by a licensed CPA audit and government entity reports are similar to the CPA audit and local government reporting requirements listed in the accommodations tax statute and referenced by *DomainsNewMedia.com*. Nothing in *DomainsNewMedia.com* requires Respondent issue a report. It only requires a specific statutory reporting scheme on the program or activity. As such, Respondent is not required to issue the reports to categorize as a non-Public Body. It is sufficient to be the subject of such reports.

IV. Dismissal of Appellant's claims against South Carolina Educational Credit for Exceptional Needs Children Fund is proper because of specific statutory reporting requirements are not required or expected to be as extensive as FOIA.

Specific statutory reporting requirements are usually not as far reaching as FOIA and do not need to be far reaching to make an entity not a public body for FOIA purposes. *DomainsNewMedia.com, LLC v. Hilton Head Island-Bluffton Chamber Commerce*, 814 S.E.2d 513, at 517 (S.C. 2018).

At the end of each fiscal year, an organization receiving funds under the accommodations tax statute shall render an accounting of the expenditure to the municipality or county which distributed them. S.C. Code Ann. § 6-4-10(3). The accommodations tax statute requires a local government receiving over \$50,000 in revenue from A-Tax funds to appoint an advisory committee "to make recommendations on the expenditure of revenue generated from the accommodations tax." *Id.* § 6-4-25(A).6. The local government must submit certain information to the South Carolina Accommodations Tax Oversight Committee, to include a "list of how funds from the accommodations tax are spent," which is due "before October first and must include funds received and dispersed during the previous fiscal year." *Id.* § 6-4-25(D). These reports are provided to the Tourism Expenditure Review Committee (TERC) for review to ensure that the local government complies with the basic requirements for expenditures set forth in the statute. *Id.* § 6-4-35; *Id.* § 6-4-25(D).

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